UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-24-2012

Barcella v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39520

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief following an evidentiary hearing.

Relief should be granted because the District Court made an unreasonable and unsupported finding of fact that Mr. Barcella waived his state and federal constitutional rights to testify and further erred in unreasonably refusing to apply the controlling United States Supreme Court precedent, *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824 (1967).

B. Procedural History

In 1998, Mr. Barcella was tried for and convicted of first degree murder. He was sentenced to life with thirty years fixed. Later, the conviction was affirmed on appeal. *State v. Barcella,* 135 Idaho 191, 16 P.3d 288 (Ct. App. 2000), *rev. denied,* 2001.

Thereafter, Mr. Barcella filed a timely *pro se* petition for post-conviction relief. R 35502, Vol. 1, p. 1.¹ Counsel was appointed, an amended petition was filed, and the case proceeded to an evidentiary hearing after which relief was denied. R 35502, Vol. 3, pp. 757-761, 820-833. An appeal was taken and the Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of relief. *Barcella v. State*, 148 Idaho 469, 224 P.3d 536 (Ct. App. 2009), *rev. denied* 2010.

While Mr. Barcella's appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief was pending, he filed a verified second petition for post-conviction relief without a case number. Augmented Record, Verified Second Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. The District Court filed this second

¹ The record in this case has been augmented with the Court File, Reporter's Transcript, and Clerk's Record filed in prior appeal No. 35502. R 310.

petition under the original case number. ROA entry March 4, 2009.

Proceedings on the second petition were stayed pending the appeal from the original petition. Augmented Record, Order to Stay Proceedings Pending Resolution of Appeal.

Following the decision in the appeal from the first petition, proceedings on the second petition continued and an amended verified second petition was filed. R 130-137. Two claims were raised:

1) That Mr. Barcella was denied the right to testify in his own behalf in violation of the Sixth Amendment.

2) That the Sixth Amendment claim should be allowed in a successive petition because original post-conviction counsel was ineffective in failing to include the claim in the original petition. R 130-137.

After taking judicial notice of the prior criminal proceeding and appeal and prior postconviction proceedings and appeal and following an evidentiary hearing, the District Court held that Mr. Barcella's Sixth Amendment claim could be raised in the successive petition, but that he did not show by a preponderance of the evidence that trial counsel had prohibited him from testifying and that even if he had been prohibited from testifying, any error was harmless under the standard for fundamental error set out in *State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 228, 245 P.3d 961, 980 (2010), *reh'g denied*. R 262-284. A final judgment was entered. R 293-295.

This appeal timely follows. R 286-292, 296-309.

C. Evidence from Trial

Mr. Barcella, as will be explained below, disputes some of the evidence presented at trial. However, the Court of Appeals has summarized the facts presented as follows: The state's evidence at trial set forth the following fact scenario: On the evening of April 2, 1995, Barcella told Kenneth Thrift - his drinking buddy for the evening, Virginia Smeltzer - the bartender at the Watering Hole bar in Coeur d'Alene, and Brad Bakie that he intended to kill Smith, the elderly manager of the Harmony House apartments where Barcella resided.

Returning to Barcella's room at the Harmony House apartments after the Watering Hole closed, Barcella and Thrift noisily entered the building and went into Barcella's one-room apartment, across the hall from Smith's room. There, they continued to drink accompanied by the noise of the radio and television. Smith, through the door, told Barcella to turn the volume down. Barcella begrudgingly complied. Some time later, while Thrift returned to his room next door to get some cigarettes and more beer, Barcella entered Smith's room and bludgeoned him in the head with a pulaski. When Thrift came bac, about five minutes later, Barcella was at Smith's door, across the hall, wiping off the doorknob with his bandana.

Back in Barcella's room, Barcella told Thrift that he had killed Smith. The two continued drinking beer until about 4:30 a.m. and then left to get breakfast at Denny's Restaurant. From there, Barcella called his girlfriend Rikki Bobo. He told her to get over to Denny's and that he had killed Smith. Once she arrived, Barcella again told Bobo and Thrift that he killed Smith by striking him in the head three times with a pick ax.

After visiting with Barcella and Thrift at Denny's for nearly an hour, Bobo returned to Barcella's room at Harmony House. There, she noticed that Barcella's pulaski was not in his room. When Barcella arrived, Bobo, with Barcella's approval, wrote out a note addressed to Smith requesting a receipt for Barcella's rent payment. Barcella told her that the note was a good idea because he would make the police believe that Barcella thought Smith was still alive. Bobo slipped the note under Smith's door.

Later that afternoon, Peter Cooper, the owner of the Harmony House apartments, discovered Smith's body. Smith had several large head wounds and smaller wounds in his chest. A pulaski was found under a piece of carpet stuffed under Smith's bed. During the homicide investigation, officers discovered that Barcella, a convicted felon, possessed firearms in his room. While in jail on a charge of being a felon in possession of a firearm, Barcella was charged with first degree murder for the killing of Smith, I.C. §§ 18-4001--18-4003.

Barcella v. State, 148 Idaho at 471-72, 224 P.3d at 538-39.

On appeal, several errors were found. These included: 1) the improper admission of

informant testimony wherein an informant testified that Mr. Barcella was not worried that he would be convicted because he had gotten away with a couple of prior shootings; 2) the improper admission of the preliminary hearing testimony of an informant snitch without a proper determination that he was an unavailable witness; and 3) the improper exclusion of testimony that would have impeached the improperly admitted preliminary hearing testimony. However, all these errors were found harmless. Additionally, the Court of Appeals declined to decide whether there was error in the late disclosure of certain evidence, as it held that any error would not have been prejudicial. The Court further found no error in the limitation on cross-examination of two of the State's primary witnesses, found no basis for reversal of the conviction on the claim of cumulative error, and found that the sentence was not excessive. *State v. Barcella, supra.*

D. Evidence Presented in Support of the First Petition

Mr. Barcella filed a *pro se* petition for post-conviction relief raising 29 claims. R 35502, Vol. I, pp. 40-46. Ultimately, relief was denied. *Barcella v. State, supra*. However, as discussed below, evidence offered at the evidentiary hearing on the first petition held May 29-30, 2007, was considered by the District Court in its decision on the second petition.

E. Evidence Presented in Support of the Second Petition

To support his claim that he was denied his state and federal constitutional rights to testify, Mr. Barcella presented evidence that there was never any colloquy about or recorded waiver of the right to testify at the trial. Record *State v. Barcella, supra.* Further, trial counsel John Adams testified that he would not have allowed Mr. Barcella to voluntarily waive the right to testify and not put it on the record, especially given that the State was seeking the death

4

penalty. He testified, "That's how people die, so I wouldn't do that." Tr. 5/29/07, p. 175, ln. 409.

Mr. Barcella testified that he and Mr. Adams did not communicate well, that Mr. Adams told him that he would not allow him to testify at trial, and that he could not recall any colloquy about his right to testify occurring on or off the record. Tr. 5/29/07 p. 116, ln. 18-19; p. 122, ln. 5 - p. 124, ln. 20.

Although Tim Gresback, Mr. Adams' co-counsel, and Mr. Durant, the defense investigator both testified for the State in the post-conviction proceedings, neither could testify that they remembered any conversation with Mr. Barcella about the fact that he had the right to testify and that he was ultimately responsible for deciding whether to exercise or waive that right. Tr. 8/19/11, p. 48, ln. 13 - p. 68, ln 19.

Mr. Gresback testified he had no specific recollections of any conversations about the decision for Mr. Barcella to testify or not. Tr. 8/19/11, p. 57, ln. 13-16; p. 62, ln. 4-8.

Mr. Durant testified he could not recall any of the conversations that may have occurred regarding Mr. Barcella testifying at trial. Tr. 8/19/11, p. 78, ln. 22-24. He further testified that he could not remember any time when there had been a serious disagreement between Mr. Adams and his client about the client testifying. Tr. 8/19/11 p. 94, ln. 21 - p. 95, ln. 4. (At the time he offered this testimony, he had participated in 2500 cases in the public defender's office and his testimony conflicted with Mr. Adams' testimony that he had "dominated" his clients' desires regarding testifying "many, many" times and at times had "drag out fights" with them. Tr. p. 5/30/07, p. 168, ln. 15-17; Tr. 8/19/11, p. 80, ln. 24-25.)

Mr. Durant further testified the office had a policy of explaining that the final decision on

the right to testify lies with the client. However, he could not remember a conversation in accord with the policy occurring in Mr. Barcella's case. Nor could he remember a conversation not happening in Mr. Barcella's case. Tr. 8/19/11, p. 95, ln. 1 - p. 96, ln. 5.

Mr. Adams did not testify that he told Mr. Barcella he had a right to testify and that he (Mr. Barcella) controlled the decision as to whether to exercise or waive that right. Instead, Mr. Adams testified that based on his opening statement at trial, he must have anticipated Mr. Barcella testifying. But, then Mr. Barcella did not testify. Tr. 5/30/07, p. 165, ln. 7 - p. 166, ln. 19.

Mr. Adams testified that Mr. Barcella got a bad trial, in fact, the worst trial he had ever seen in his 27 years of criminal defense work. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 149, ln. 21-23; p. 157, ln. 8-9. Regarding Mr. Barcella's right to testify, Mr. Adams testified that he had dominated his client's desires many, many times, and he could not remember anything in this case about any discussions he had with Mr. Barcella about the right to testify - he testified that they had to have talked about it, but he simply could not recall what they had said. Tr. 5/30/07, p. 168, ln. 15 - p. 169, ln. 22. He further clarified the only explanation he could offer for not putting a waiver of the right to testify on the record was that Mr. Barcella did not want to waive the right. Tr. 5/30/07, p. 173, ln. 19 - p. 174, ln. 6.

Mr. Adams offered no testimony at all that his office had a policy regarding discussions with clients on the right to testify and the waiver of that right. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 149-182. The only standard practice he testified to was that he put waivers of the right to testify on the record if they were voluntarily made and there was no waiver on the record in this case. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 173, ln. 10 - p. 174, ln. 6.

6

Mr. Barcella testified he had wanted to do a manslaughter type defense because he did not premeditate the killing of Mr. Smith. Tr. 5/29/07 p. 136, on. 19-22. He testified that much of the testimony the State offered was lies which he wanted to rebut. Tr. 5/29/07 p. 123, ln. 9-20.

With regard to the alleged offense, Mr. Barcella testified that all the motives suggested by the State were invalid. He would never kill someone for putting a note on his door. Nor was there any issue over a dog. And, he certainly would not have killed someone because they told him to stop making noise. In fact, Mr. Smith had let Mr. Barcella move into the apartment and have a dog. Rather than having bad feelings toward Mr. Smith, Mr. Barcella was grateful to him. Tr. 5/29/07 p. 125, ln. 13-15, p.129, ln. 24-25, Tr. 5/30/07, p. 201, ln. 7-9.

Mr. Barcella also testified as to the terrible time he was having immediately before Mr. Smith died. Mr. Barcella had been in jail in Wallace, and upon his release, he had lost the house he had been buying. Also, his dog had died and he had been forced to move to Coeur d'Alene. He moved into the apartment, which was named Harmony House, but was really more like Animal House. The residents were drunk and on drugs. It was so bad, that a man in the hallway swinging a 2 x 4 with nails and spikes in it had to be arrested. Furthermore, the same week as Mr. Smith's death, Mr. Barcella was assaulted and got into an altercation with some Gypsy Jokers, one of whom told him that he was going to kill or severely maim him. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 201, ln. 14 - p. 204, ln. 4.

These events were all set over Mr. Barcella's pre-existing PTSD, alcoholism, and bipolar disorder. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 205, ln. 13-16.

In the three years before Mr. Smith's death, Mr. Barcella had been sober. However, when he moved to Idaho, he had started "controlled" drinking. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 208, ln. 20-22.

Mr. Barcella was drunk for approximately four days prior to Mr. Smith's death. He was also taking a "mega-dose" of Xanax which caused blackouts and memory loss.² Tr. 5/29/07 p. 211, ln. 7 - p.212, ln. 23.

Because of the drinking and Xanax, it was hard for Mr. Barcella to remember events clearly. But he did remember that on either the day Mr. Smith died or the day before, he went to the Cotton Club with Bill Solberg and got drunk. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 208, ln. 3 - p.209, ln. 19. Later that day, his girlfriend, Ricki Bobo, took him shopping and when they came back to his apartment, there was a note from Mr. Smith on his door. But, the note did not upset Mr. Barcella and he just took it from the door. The idea that this note was a motive for him to harm Mr. Smith was totally false. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 210, ln. 2-21.

The day of Mr. Smith's death, Mr. Barcella had received his SSI check and slipped his rent under Mr. Smith's door. While he had been in the habit of working out, he did not go to the gym that day because he was very depressed and alone. Instead, he continued drinking. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 213, ln. 16 - p. 214, ln. 11.

He went to the Lakers Café about 10:00 a.m. and stayed for a couple of hours. Ken Thrift, whom he knew from the apartments, was also there drinking. Mr. Barcella was leery of Mr. Thrift, but because he was drinking, he lost sight of his morals and they started drinking together. After leaving Lakers, he and Mr. Thrift went to three other places and Mr. Barcella had a drink at each one. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 214, ln. 12-25.

At some point, Mr. Barcella went home. He cannot remember now if he continued

² Xanax is used to treat anxiety and panic disorders. It acts on the brain and nerves by enhancing the effects of GABA. Side effects include mental/mood changes, dizziness, drowsiness, trouble walking, and slurred speech. www.webmd.com.

drinking at home, but at 5:30 p.m., he went to The Watering Hole. David Overcash and Mr. Solberg were there and Mr. Barcella probably had three or four more beers. While there, the bartender asked Mr. Barcella to straighten out Mr. Overcash because he was calling her foul names. He agreed to help and took Mr. Overcash outside. The bartender, in thanks, bought Mr. Barcella more beer for the next couple of hours. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 215, ln. 1-21.

Mr. Thrift and Mr. Bakie arrived at The Watering Hole a couple of hours later. Both were drunk. Ms. Bobo also showed up saying she had been at the Cantina drinking. Meanwhile, Mr. Barcella was doing shots. By 10:30 p.m. he was so drunk that he could not walk. Ms. Bobo and Mr. Solberg had to carry him out to Mr. Solberg's truck. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 216, ln. 1-217, ln. 6.

Mr. Barcella can recall getting into the truck and going with Mr. Solberg to two other bars. At some point, Ms. Bobo, Mr. Bakey, and Mr. Thrift left. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 217, In. 7-11.

About 1:30 a.m. Mr. Barcella called Ms. Bobo. It was a "drunk's phone call" based in loneliness and depression. By then, Mr. Barcella was very drunk and he and Mr. Solberg left the bar to return to the apartment building. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 217, ln. 17 - p. 218, ln. 3.

Mr. Barcella can remember crawling into his room and Mr. Smith telling them that they could not come in at two or three in the morning drunk. However, Mr. Smith too was a drinker and he didn't yell at Mr. Barcella or anything. In fact, they had often interacted together at the bars. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 218, ln. 6-25.

Mr. Barcella stayed in his room and drank another beer or two. At this point, he had not slept for four days. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 219, ln. 5-6.

After a bit, he heard some people in their early twenties down on the sidewalk making noise, and he yelled at them to shut up. Mr. Barcella is not sure why, but he might have been

afraid that Mr. Smith would yell at him for the noise and he wanted to avoid trouble. At any rate, Mr. Barcella's room was full of tools and he grabbed the pulakski and went down to talk to the kids. Tr. 5/27/07 p. 219-220. He took the pulaski only to protect himself. He had no intent of hurting anyone. He was highly intoxicated and had recently been jumped and wanted to protect himself. Tr. 5/30/07 p.219, ln. 10 - p. 220, ln. 11.

This is the last thing Mr. Barcella can remember. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 220, ln. 9-11.

Some time later, Mr. Barcella woke up in Mr. Smith's room. Mr. Smith was dead and the pulaski was on the floor between them. Mr. Barcella was in a blackout period and does not know how Mr. Smith died. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 220, ln. 12-16.

Mr. Barcella got extremely scared and did not know what to do. So, he left Mr. Smith's room, went into his own room, and had some more beer. Everything kept running through his mind and it was terrible. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 221, ln. 13-17.

Sometime between 5:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m., Mr. Barcella and Mr. Thrift had another beer. Then Mr. Thrift suggested that he (Thrift) hotwire Mr. Solberg's truck and that they go out for breakfast. They did this and went to Denny's. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 221, ln. 18 - p. 222, ln. 2.

At Denny's, Mr. Barcella told Mr. Thrift and Ms. Bobo that he had killed Mr. Smith. In response, Ms. Bobo came up with an idea to put a note under Mr. Smith's door asking for a rent receipt in order to deflect suspicion from Mr. Barcella. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 222, ln. 3-8.

After breakfast, Ms. Bobo brought her son to Mr. Barcella's apartment and Mr. Barcella continued drinking throughout the day. Finally, Peter Cooper went into Mr. Smith's room and found Mr. Smith's body. Mr. Cooper wanted someone to call the police and, after freaking out, Mr. Barcella remembered that Mr. Smith was the only one in the building with a phone. So, Mr.

Barcella told Mr. Cooper this, and Mr. Cooper called the police. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 222, ln. 9-p. 223, ln. 25

When the police arrived, they declined to interview Mr. Barcella saying he was too drunk to talk with. Mr. Barcella looked into the room, but he already understood what had happened. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 224, ln. 1-18.

Meanwhile, Ms. Bobo was freaking out and felt that it was not a good place for her son to be. So, he, Ms. Bobo, and the boy left. As they were leaving, Mr. Barcella spoke with a police officer, showed her his ID and asked if it was okay to leave. Tr. 5/30/08 p. 225, ln. 5-17.

The three went to a motel and spent the night. The next day Mr. Barcella returned to the apartment and was arrested on a federal weapons charge. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 225, ln. 18-25.

Mr. Barcella did not confess to killing Mr. Smith to the two informants who testified in the trial. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 232, ln. 4-10.

Mr. Barcella thinks about Mr. Smith every day and prays for him and his friends. Tr. 5/30//07 p. 231, ln. 5-9.

While Mr. Barcella took pride in his strength, there is no pride in killing an old man and he would never do such a thing in his right mind. And, while he had been in many fights before, he has changed and no longer fights. All the fight has gone from him. Tr. 5/30/07 p. 232, ln. 15p. 233, ln. 12.

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

1) Did the District Court make an unreasonable determination of fact in finding that Mr. Barcella did not demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that trial counsel denied him his Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment and Idaho Constitution, Art. I, § 13 rights to testify at trial?

2) Was the District Court's denial of post-conviction relief an unreasonable application of

controlling United States Supreme Court precedent insofar as the Court refused to apply the

required *Chapman*³ harmless error analysis?

IV. ARGUMENT

A. <u>The District Court's Finding that Mr. Barcella Waived the Right to Testify is</u> <u>Unreasonable and Clearly Erroneous</u>

1. Standard of Review

The standard of review applicable to this case is set out in Rossignol v. State:

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