Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-17-2012

Barcella v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39520

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

In its written memorandum opinion following the evidentiary hearing, the district court concluded that Barcella's initial post-conviction counsel's ineffectiveness constituted sufficient reason as to why the claim was not previously asserted. (R., pp.275-277.) However, the district court also concluded that Barcella failed to show that he was deprived of his constitutional right to testify. (R., pp.277-282.) The court further concluded that even if

² The Idaho Supreme Court granted Barcella's motion to augment the appellate record with his 3/4/09 Verified Second Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (4/25/12 Order).

³ On July 12, 2012, Barcella filed a motion to augment the appellate record with the transcript from the 8/19/11 evidentiary hearing. That motion remains pending before the Court.

Barcella had been so deprived of his constitutional right, such error was harmless. (R., pp.282-283.) Barcella timely appealed. (R., pp.286-292.)

ISSUE

Barcella states the issues on appeal as:

- 1. Did the District Court make an unreasonable determination of fact in finding that Mr. Barcella did not demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that trial counsel denied him his Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment and Idaho Constitution, Art. I, § 13 rights to testify at trial?
- 2. Was the District Court's denial of post-conviction relief an unreasonable application of controlling United States Supreme Court precedent insofar as the Court refused to apply the required [Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967)] harmless error analysis?

(Appellant's Brief, pp.11-12.)

The state rephrases the issue as:

Has Barcella failed to show the district court erred in dismissing his successive petition for post-conviction relief after an evidentiary hearing?

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Barcella Has Failed To Show The District Court Erred In Dismissing His Successive Petition For Post-Conviction Relief After An Evidentiary Hearing

A. Introduction

Barcella contends that the district court erred in dismissing his successive petition for post-conviction relief. (See generally, Appellant's brief.) Specifically, Barcella contends that the district court erred in concluding that Barcella waived his right to testify, and then by utilizing an incorrect harmless error standard. (Id.) A review of the record reveals that Barcella failed to meet his burden to show that he was deprived of his constitutional right to testify and that, while the district court utilized an incorrect harmless error standard, any error was harmless under the correct standard as well.

B. Standard Of Review

When the district court conducts an evidentiary hearing and enters findings of fact and conclusions of law, an appellate court will disturb the findings of fact only if they are clearly erroneous, but will freely review the conclusions of law drawn by the district court from those facts. Mitchell v. State, 132 Idaho 274, 276-77, 971 P.2d 727, 729-730 (1998).

The credibility of the witnesses, the weight to be given to their testimony, and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence are all matters solely within the province of the district court. <u>Peterson v. State</u>, 139 Idaho 95, 97, 73 P.3d 108, 110 (Ct. App. 2003). A trial court's decision that a post-conviction petitioner has

not met his burden of proof is entitled to great weight. Sanders v. State, 117 Idaho 939, 940, 792 P.2d 964, 965 (Ct. App. 1990).

C. <u>Barcella Has Failed To Meet His Burden To Show That His Right To Testify Was Violated</u>

A petitioner seeking post-conviction relief has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, the allegations upon which his claim is based. Estes v. State, 111 Idaho 430, 436, 725 P.2d 135, 141 (1986); Clark v. State, 92 Idaho 827, 830, 452 P.2d 54, 57 (1969); I.C.R. 57(c). When a post-conviction petitioner alleges a direct violation of his or her constitutional right to testify, then the petitioner has the burden to show he or she was deprive of the right to testify. Rossignol v. State, 152 Idaho 700, ____, 274 P.3d 1, 4-10 (Ct. App. 2012).

A criminal defendant has a fundamental right to testify on his own behalf. State v. Hoffman, 116 Idaho 689, 690, 778 P.2d 811, 812 (Ct. App. 1989); Cootz v. State, 129 Idaho 360, 924 P.2d 622 (Ct. App. 1996). Counsel may advise the defendant regarding the wisdom and propriety of testifying; however, the defendant is personally vested with the ultimate authority to decide whether or not to testify. Hoffman, 116 Idaho at 690, 778 P.2d at 812. A defendant must be aware of his right to testify at trial before he can adequately waive that right. Hoffman, 116 Idaho at 691-92, 778 P.2d at 813-14; Cootz 129 Idaho 360, 924 P.2d 622.

However, neither <u>Hoffman</u> nor <u>Cootz</u> stand for the proposition that where a post-conviction petitioner asserts that he was deprived his constitutional right to testify, the district court is required to affirmatively find that the petitioner waived

his right to testify, and that the petitioner was aware of that right, before it may dismiss the petition after an evidentiary hearing. Rossignol 152 Idaho at _____, 274 P.3d at 4-11 (affirming district court's dismissal of a post-conviction petition after an evidentiary hearing where Rossignol failed to prove he was unaware of his ultimate right to decide whether to testify). Further, a district court is not required to obtain an on-the-record waiver of the right to testify when a defendant does not testify at trial. Aragon v. State, 114 Idaho 758, 763, 760 P.2d 1174, 1179 (1988). In order to obtain relief, it is the post-conviction petitioner's burden to show that he was prevented from testifying and/or that he was unaware of his right to testify.

In this case, the district court concluded that Barcella's counsel did advise him of his right to testify, and that Barcella waived that right. (R., pp.280-282.) On appeal, Barcella contends that these findings were erroneous. (Appellant's brief, pp.22-28.) To the contrary, these findings were supported by substantial evidence. However, even if these findings were made in error, such findings were not necessary to find that Barcella failed to meet his burden to prove that his right to testify was violated. Before dismissing Barcella's petition, the district court was not required to find that there was "substantial evidence" of Barcella's constitutional rights waiver, but only that Barcella failed to meet his burden to show his constitutional rights were violated. The record reveals that Barcella indeed failed to make such a showing.

There was no indication during the trial that Barcella was denied his right to testify. (See generally #25216 Trial Tr.; R., p.280.) Barcella did not assert his right to testify in any kind of public way during the trial proceedings. (See generally #25216 Trial Tr.; R., p.280.) Subsequently, Barcella was afforded two post-conviction evidentiary hearings to address this issue - first pursuant to his claim in his initial petition that his trial counsel was ineffective for preventing him from testifying, and second pursuant to his claim in his successive petition that he was deprived of his constitutional right to testify. (#35502 5/29/07 Tr.; #35502 5/30/07 Tr.; 8/19/11 Tr.)

At the first evidentiary hearing, Barcella's trial counsel, John Adams, testified that while he took very seriously Barcella's rights, including his right to testify, he could not remember whether he informed Barcella of this right or prevented him from exercising it. (#35502 5/30/07 Tr., pp.168, L.18 – p.169, L.22; p.175, L.1 – p.176, L.1.) Adams is a very experienced defense attorney, who had approximately 15 years of experience at the time of the trial. (#35502 5/30/07 Tr., p.149, Ls.2-22.) Adams was aware of Barcella's right to testify, understood the distinction between preventing a client from testifying and advising him not to testify, and stated that he could not recall ever preventing any client from testifying. (#25502 5/30/07 Tr., p.166, L.20 – p.169, L.2.) Certainly, Barcella can make no inference that inexperience or ignorance of the law caused

⁴ The trial transcript and the transcripts from the initial post-conviction evidentiary hearing were admitted as evidence during the successive post-conviction evidentiary hearing. (R., p.311; Plaintiff's Exhibits 1, 2A, 2B, 2C; 8/19/11 Tr., p.6, L.12 – p.7, L.17.)

his defense counsel to deprive him of his constitutional rights by refusing to allow him to testify.

At the second evidentiary hearing, Tim Gresback, Adams' co-counsel at Barcella's murder trial, testified that he could not recall Barcella ever discussing with him his desire to testify, despite being involved in the case, and despite Barcella's "excellent" ability to verbalize his positions and/or beliefs. (8/19/11 Tr., p.48, L.13 - p.62, L.8.) Gresback also could not remember being aware of any overt disagreement between Barcella and Adams over the issue of Barcella's desire to testify. (8/19/11 Tr., p.58, L.14 – p.60, L.4; p.67, Ls.16-22.)

Mark Durant, a criminal investigator with the Kootenai County Public Defender's Office, who was involved in the Barcella case (8/19/11 Tr., p.71, L.23 – p.78, L.21), testified that the Kootenai County Public Defender's Office had a "rule" that "[i]t's up to the defendant to testify" (8/19/11 Tr., p.94, L.21 – p.95, L.19). Durant continued that he could remember no occasion in 16 years where this rule was deviated from, including the present case. (8/19/11 Tr., p.95, Ls.13-19.) Finally, Durant explained that, generally, the Kootenai County Public Defender's Office explains that rule to clients "numerous times during the pretrial meetings," and during the trial itself. (8/19/11 Tr., p.95, L.18 - p.96, L.1.)

Barcella testified that he desired to testify at trial and that he expressed that desire to his counsel, but that his counsel did not allow him to testify. (5/29/07 Tr., p.122, L.21 – p.123, L.5; 8/19/11 Tr., p.113, Ls.4-13.) Barcella also appeared to acknowledge, however, that Adams talked to him about his right to testify:

Q: Do you have any memory at all of the Judge

talking to you about your right, your ability to waive your Fifth Amendment right to testify?

[Barcella]: I don't know, it's possible.

Q: You don't know, though?

[Barcella]: I don't know. I know John told me. I didn't

know anything about the law back then, I only

started learning after my appeal.

(5/29/07 Tr., p.124, Ls.9-16 (emphasis added).) Barcella also testified that Adams told him that if he "wanted to give up [his] right to testify," he had to put that on the record. (8/19/11 Tr., p.114, Ls.8-10.) These comments create a strong inference that Adams and Barcella discussed Barcella's right to testify, and that Barcella was thus aware of that right.

Barcella failed to meet his burden to show that he was unaware of his right to testify, that he was his prevented from testifying, or that his constitutional right to testify was violated. Barcella never attempted to assert his right to testify during the trial proceedings, and Barcella's counsel could not remember if they failed to inform Barcella of his rights, or if they prevented him from testifying. The district court was not required to grant post-conviction relief based solely on Barcella's assertions. The district court therefore did not err in dismissing Barcella's petition.

D. <u>Even If Barcella Had Met His Burden To Show That His Right To Testify Was Violated, Any Such Error Was Harmless</u>

Where a defendant succeeds in meeting his burden to show he or she was deprived of the right to testify, the state must convince the reviewing court

beyond a reasonable doubt that the deprivation did not contribute to the defendant's conviction – that it was harmless error. Rossignol, 152 Idaho at ____, 275 P.3d at 4-5 (citing Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967)).

In this case, the district court concluded that even if Barcella had met his burden to show that he deprived his constitutional right to testify, such error was harmless. (R., pp.282-283.) However, in making this determination, rather than utilizing the Chapman harmless error test, the district court applied, sua sponte, the fundamental error and harmless error test announced by the Idaho Supreme Court in State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 219-228, 245 P.3d 961, 971-980 (2010). (R., pp.282-283.) The Perry analysis, which applies to appellate review of unpreserved errors, requires, as its third prong, an appellant to show that an error affected the outcome of his trial. Perry, 150 Idaho at 219-228, 245 P.3d at 971-980. This test has no application to a district court's analysis of harmless error in a constitutional challenge in a post-conviction petition proceeding. Therefore, the district court erred in utilizing this standard. However, a review of the record reveals that if Barcella was deprived of his right to testify, such deprivation was harmless under the Chapman reasonable doubt standard as well, and this Court may affirm the district court's decision on this basis. State v. Foster, 127 Idaho 723, 728, 905 P.2d 1032, 1037 (Ct. App. 1995) ("If the reason expressed by a trial court for its decision is erroneous, the trial court's action will nonetheless be upheld on appeal if an alternative legal basis supports it.") (citations omitted).

The Idaho Court of Appeals has already analyzed the harmlessness of any error that prevented Barcella from testifying. In Barcella's initial post-conviction petition proceeding, the district court concluded that even if Barcella's counsel was ineffective in preventing him from testifying, any such error was harmless pursuant to the Strickland prejudice standard (i.e., the district court concluded that Barcella did not show a reasonable probability that, but for any error preventing him from testing, the outcome of the trial would have been different.) (#35502 R., pp.828-829.) The Idaho Court of Appeals affirmed the district court, concluding that Barcella "failed to demonstrate prejudice from any prevention by trial counsel of Barcella testifying at trial." Barcella, 148 Idaho at 477, 224 P.3d at 545. Any deprivation of Barcella's constitutional right to testify was similarly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under the Chapman standard.

At his evidentiary hearings, Barcella stated that he wanted to testify at trial to deny assertions made by other witnesses, including that he had previously shot and killed two other people. (#35502 5/29/07 Tr., p.123, Ls.4-25; 8/19/11 Tr., p.108, L.19 – p.109, L.22.) Barcella also wanted to testify about the state's theory about his motive for the killing, his consumption of alcohol and medication around the time of the killing, the events surrounding the killing, and whether or not he intended kill Smith. (#35502 5/29/07 Tr., p.119, L.5 – p.144, L.16; 8/19/11 Tr., p.104, Ls.11-17, p.107, Ls.2-8.)

The district court correctly concluded that this proposed testimony would not have affected the outcome of the trial. In affirming Barcella's conviction on

direct appeal, the Idaho Court of Appeals characterized the evidence of Barcella's guilt as "overwhelming." <u>Barcella</u>, 135 Idaho at 204, 16 P.3d at 301.

In that opinion, the Idaho Court of Appeals also held that the trial witness's unsolicited claim that Barcella had admitted shooting two other people, while improper, was itself harmless beyond a reasonable doubt: The Court reasoned:

Although the interjection of the "couple other shootings" statement was plainly improper, we conclude that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Lane was the state's twentieth witness. Prior to his testimony, the jury had been told by the defense that Barcella had a prior felony conviction. The jury heard testimony from bartender Smeltzer, bar patron Bakie, and Thrift that Barcella had told them he intended to kill Smith. The jury also heard testimony from Thrift, Bobo and Lane that Barcella admitted to killing Smith. Thrift and Bobo both testified that Barcella owned a pulaski. Thrift also testified that he saw Barcella wiping off Smith's doorknob with a bandana when Thrift came out of his room the night Smith was killed. Bobo testified that the pulaski was missing from Barcella's room the next day. A pulaski was recovered from under the bed in Smith's room.

Id. at 199, 16 P.3d at 206 (footnotes omitted). The Court of Appeals concluded that "even if Lane's blurt about prior shootings had not been heard by the jury, the remaining evidence would have easily led the jury to return a guilty verdict."

Id. Since the testimony about the shootings was itself harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, it follows that Barcella's inability to testify and deny the shootings was likewise harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Likewise, Barcella's inability to dispute other specific witness testimony - none of which was as potentially prejudicial as the shooting testimony - was also harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, in light of the overwhelming evidence against him.

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